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Gerolamo Cassar-The Architect 
Gerolamo Cassar (1520-86), together with 
Grand Master La Valette and the Italian military 
architect Francesco Laparelli were the driving 
force for the foundation and the building of the 
city of Valletta. One has to keep in mind that the 
Maltese did not enjoy high ranking positions in 
the Order of Saint john and the fact that Cassar 
was the only Maltese architect to be trusted by the 
Order of Saint john for the urbanization of their 
new city was a prestigious moment for Malta. 1 

The Maltese architect's contributions to the 
building of Valletta, were not only limited to 
the official buildings of the Order of Saint john, 
but they also consisted of the design of the seven 
auberges of the langue, the Grand Master's 
Magisterial Palace, the Sacra Infermeria and the 
Conventual Church of Saint john. Furthermore, 
he also contributed in designing other churches in 
Valletta- namely the Parish church of Saint Paul 
Shipwreck, of Porto Salvo, the Carmelite church, 
the church of Sant Augustine and that of Saint 
Mary of jesus. 2 

After the Great Siege of 1565, Cassar was 
appointed to serve as the architect of the Order 
and also became Laparelli's assistant in the 
building of Valletta. His first specific duties, as 
a military architect with the Order, were the 
reconstruction of Soint Michael and his home 
town Birgu . He was very much trusted- so 
much so that he was appointed to supervise the 
building of the fortifications when Laparelli was 
absent from Malta to participate in the battle 
of Lepanto. It was at this time that Cassar was 
promoted as the Order's chief architect.' Being 
the military engineer of the Knights, Cassar was 
sent to the Italian mainland to study. Here, he 
came in contact with Mannerism. Being in Italy, 
and without academic training, the absorption 
of Mannerist nuances and sophistications would 
hmre influenced a lot the up and coming architect. 
ThiS mfluence marks his buildings as having a 
lack of the full understanding of the classical 
Renmssance style. Unfortunately, it is difficult 
to conclude Cassar's style from the auberges and 
palaces as many of them were later remodelled 
while others were completed destroyed. 
Ger?lamo's Cassar role in the Carmelite history 
begms with the drafting of the contract when 
the Carmelites moved from the area known 
as "San Leonardo" to the new city. When the 

contract was drawn on 27th july 1570" there was 
Fr. Cristofano Leboullens on the behalf of the 
Order of jerusalem, while Fr Raimondo Fortuin 
and Fr Giorgio Caccherano represented the 
Commissioners from Valletta. The Carmelite 
Order was represented by Fr Giovanni Vella, who 
was the Sicilian Provincial Vicar. Also present for 
the contract was the architect Gerolamo Cassar 
as he was the master architect of the Order. Fr 
Giovanni Vella, the Sicilian Provincial Vicar, 
stated that the land was obtained to serve for the 
new Carmelite Church and adjoining it, there 
would also be a convent. Both the convent and 
the Church were to fall under the title of "The 
Blessed Virgin of the Carmelite Order" .5 
Of important note is the fact that in the Carmelite 
Church, Cassar utilized the system of the naves in 
the Church for \he first time. Besides the naves 
in the church, the dome was also the first one in 
Valletta. 

The Old Carmelite Convent and Church 
When the Carmelites first arrived on the island, 
round about the year 14186 , they resided in 
the area known as "San Leonardo" . On the 3,d 
of February 1566, the foundation stone on the 
plateau of "Xebb ir-Ras" was laid by Grand Master 
Fra Pietro del Monte. 7 On this initiative, the 
Carmelites thought it was the ideal time to spread 
their teachings further from the area off the limits 
of Rabat, while also taking into consideration the 
importance and protection the new city would 
bring about. As a result, Fr.Giovanni Vella, the 
Prior at the Annunciation church, was responsible 
both in the buying of the land and also in the 
construction of the new church. 
The entrance of the Carmelite Convent's opened 
into Theatre Street, which was then known as 
Saviour's Street, and where currently there is the 
oratory of jesus of Nazareth. The first convent 
(Fig. 1) was probably built on two storeys. During . 
the seventeenth century, the convent underwent 
architectural modifications.· Indeed the rooms in 
the second storey were reduced in height so that 
an additional storey, above the second storey, 
would be built. In the meantime, the ground 
floor rooms were converted into houses and in 
turn were rented out to the laymen. The land that 
adjoins Saint Sebastian Street- nowadays known 
as Zekka Street - with Holy Saviour Street (now 
Theatre Street), was left empty. 
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Side-view from Zekka Street of the 
old Carmelite Church, World War II. 

Photo Courtesy of Fr. Martin Schembri. 

While Gerolamo Cassar's church was in the process 
of being built, the Carmelites built a tem porary 
church, with the main purpose of catering for 
the daily religious and spiritua l n eeds of the 
community living in Valletta ." This temporary 
chapel was dedicated to the Annunciation of the 
Virgin. Dusina's reports a lludes that the cha pel 
of the Annunciation belonged to the Carmelite 
Order. 10 The title for the chapel remained tha t of 
the Annunciation till Cassar's church was finished 
and the High Altar was placed in the church in 
160811 After this date, the dedication changed 
to the Vlrgm of Mount Carmel. From studies 
and research, the location of the Annunciation 
Chapejl2 can be deduced and presumed that it 

was located where the old sacristy was.13 When 
the latter was finished, the small chapel was 
dismembered and in its place, one of the corridors 
- one part of which was part with loggias facing 
Saviour Street and the other part facing the 
convent's backyard - was built. 

Cassar's church, which was completed in IS86, 
was simple in design; consisting of a single nave 
and side chapels. It was ISO feet in length and 
SO feet in width. Topped on four pilasters, there 
was a small dome. The church had ten altars. 
These ten altars were: the high altar, three altars 
in the right naves and four in the left nave. I. The 
oratory, which belonged to the Confraternity of 
the Virgin of Mount Carmel, was richly decorated 
with sculpture. Apart from the oratory of the 
Confraternity of the Virgin of Mount Carmel, 
there was a nother oratory which belonged to the 
Confraternity of Saint Joseph. The church also 
had an ossuary which was still in use until The 
Addolorata Cemetery, built by Emanuel Luigi 
Galizia, first opened its gates in 1869. 

The first Carmine Church was planned on a 
simple Latin cross, consisting of one single nave, 
six chapels and two lateral chapels. 15 This style 
of building was Gerolamo Cassar's favoured 

View of the nave from the High Altar. 
Old Carmelite Church, Valletta. 

Photo Courtesy by Fr. Martin Schembri. 



style . The nave was lang and narrow which 
extended 150 feet and 50 feet in width.16 (Fig.2) 
Furthermare, the nave rested an eight main 
pilasters which jained tagether the presbytery, 
nave and the lateral chapels. At the crossing 
there were faur dauble pilasters, which were 
decorated in 1951. Each af the dauble pilasters 
was decorated with twa angels and reached just 
under the dame. The angels carried the coat af 
a rms (stemmi) in their hands. Bath the angels 
and the stemmi were executed in stucco. at a 
much later stage, in the mid-twentieth century. 
The dame was decorated by Ramiro Cali (1881 -
1945), the san afGiuseppe Cali (1846-1930). The 
Carmelite church in Valletta a lso. camprises a 
tribune executed by Pietro Paalo Cellini whilst the 
bracket is the wark af Francesco La Turco and his 
sans Isidaro and Maria Antania . 17 

Furthermare, the Old Carmelite church had twa 
daors: the main daar which apened into. Theatre 
Street and was large enaugh far the processianal 
statue to. go. aut an its feast day while the secand 
daar which was nat as large as the main daar, was 
used by the pilgrims who. came and visited the 
church. Cassar's church had marble floaring but 
the exact da te far this flaaring is unknawn. This 
marble flaaring cansisted of the entire pavement 
but anly the flaaring af the presbytery was af 
superiar quality. The pilasters and the caunter 
pilaster were also. given a marble surface. Their 
marble was grey and they were decorated with 
a barder an their auter side. The marble far the 
pilaster was greenish in colaur while that of the 
smaller pilasters was yellawish. The use af marble 
was nat limited anly to. the flaar but was used a lso. 
for the nine a ltars - in the side chapels. 

Behind the cha ir, there was ance an Oratary that 
belanged to. the Canfraternity of the Virgin af 
Maunt Carmel. This aratary apened into. Zekka 
Street and was lavishly decarated with sculpture. 18 

Unfartunate ly, the aratary was dismembered 
when the Church was elevated to the title af a 
"Minoris Basilicae". Cansequently, the cha ir was 
changed and the a ltar was replaced by a Papal 
Altar. Nawadays, the Can fraternity has a smaller 
aratary dedicated to. Jesus af Nazareth, a little 
further dawn Theatre Street. The second a ratary 
af the Carmelites belanged to. the Canfraternity 
of Saint Jaseph. This small a ratary was next to. 
the convent's daar. 

Unfartunately, up till the year 1951, what 
remained af Cassar's church were the arched 
vaults afthe nave and the capitals afthe columns. 
The capitals were in the Daric style, which was 
a style at heart to. Cassar. These tagether with 
the arched vaults were later an remadelled. The 
church was nat the anly victim af the change; 

Elevation of the old Carmelite Church's west facade. 
Carmelite Archives, Valletta. 

The Old Carmelite Church West Elevation, 
Carmelite Archives, Valletta. 
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The first corner statue that used to adorn 
the Old Carmelite Church. 

At present it is in the Carmelite Priory, Val/etta. 

the convent also underwent several changes and 
consequently little remains of Cassar's original 
plans. 

The Front Elevation 

The facad e l9 of the Carmine Church was in 
simple and austere Doric style20 • It was divided 
into three bays (Fig.3 and 4) with the central 
part being punctured by the main portal and 

having a frontispiece with a two coat of arms. 
On one side there was the coat of arms of Pope 
Leo XIII (the Pope who elevated the Carmelite 
Sanctuary to a Minor Basilica) and on the other 
side was the Carmelite coat of arms. The portal 
was decorated with two pillars, one on each side 
and had rusticated quoins. Double pilasters were 
raised on a plinth, and functioned a s a division 
of the bays. The decoration of the lower level 
was reutilized in the upper section of the facade. 
The space above the main door was punctured by 
two windows. Two horizontal bands ran along 
the entire facade . The facade was topped with a 
triangular pediment and a Basilica Cross 

The facade was restored in the mid 191h century. 
On the 81h of July of 184821

, Prior Fr. Albert Ellul 
proposed to the Carmelite Community that 
restoration had to take place immediately as 
the facade was in an utterly bad state. For the 
preservation of the outer facade, the Carmelites 
had spent 1120 scudi. 22 For this project the 
architect Giuseppe Bonavia (1671-1730) was 
commissioned. The repairs on the facade were 
completed by the year 1850.23 
Adorning the corner of the church, atthe junction 
of Theatre Street and Zekka Street, was a statue 
(Fig.5) . The Commission, which was appOinted for 
the supervision of the buildings in Valletta, had 
issued a set of regulations that each building in 
Valletta had to abide with. One of the regulations 
was that every house, situated at the corner of the 
street, had to be embellished. ' 

Close examination on both Cassar's facades of 
the auberges and the Carmelite west elevation 
shows that both share similar characteristics. 
Both types of facades were sober in appearance 
which resulted in blank expanses of wall surfaces, 
with the interruption of elongated rectangular 
windows adorned by the Melitan triple roll 
mOUlding. Whereas the facades for the auberges 
were bare from decoration; that is there was no use 
of pilasters and the columns, the Cm·melile facade 
was decorated with half pilasters on both tiers of 
the facade . Furthermore the only decorations 
on the outer facade of the auberges were the 
rusticated quoins as they provided a relief from 
the complete starkness of the wall. In addition 
to this, the quoins were also an expression of 
strength (Fig.6 and 7). 

Unfortunately, Cassar's church was subject to 
many architectural changes of which very little 
remained within the original church. When the 
choir of the church was the victim of the enemies' 
bombs in the Second World War, the Church 
had a lready suffered a considerable amount of 
mutilations that little of what remained could be 
considered to be of Cassar's hand. 
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Auberge d' Auvergne, 
probably Cassar's 
ea rli est auberges, 
Val/etta. 
Taken from: A History 
of Maltese Architecture 
from 
Ancient Ti mes up 

~==~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~=:;to 1800, Leonard r Mahoney. 
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Auberge de France, 
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